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      For Samantha Bowles, who made
this book so much better

      




      
      
      Author Note

      
      In addition to the case documents contained in the text, additional material, including charts produced by the Major Crime
         analyst for the Op Nettle investigation, is available in an Appendix at the end of this book. Further documents can also be
         viewed online at www.op-nettle.info.
      

      
      Although intended to appear to be an authentic murder investigation, all characters, locations and situations in this book
         are fictional.
      

      
      
      




      
      
      Day One – Thursday 1 November 2012

      
      09:41

      
      Dispatch Log 1101-0132

      
      

         **CALLER STATES SHE HAS FOUND HER FRIEND COVERED IN BLOOD NOT MOVING NOT BREATHING

         **AMBULANCE ALREADY DISPATCHED – REF 01-914

         **CALLER IS FELICITY MAITLAND, HERMITAGE FARM, CEMETERY LANE MORDEN – OCCUPATION FARM OWNER

         **INJURED PARTY IDENTIFIED AS POLLY LUCAS, FAMILY FRIEND OF CALLER

         **CALLER HYSTERICAL, TRYING TO GET LOCATION FROM HER

         **ADDRESS YONDER COTTAGE CEMETERY LANE MORDEN VILLAGE

         **LOCATION GIVEN AS OUTSIDE VILLAGE ON ROAD TO BRIARSTONE, PAST THE LEMON TREE PUB ON THE RIGHT HAND SIDE

         **SP CORRECTION POLLY LEUCHARS DOB 28/12/1984 AGED 27

         **PATROLS AL23 AL11 AVAILABLE DISPATCHED

         **DUTY INSPECTOR NOTED, WILL ATTEND

      



      
      10:52

      
      In years to come, Flora would remember this as the day of Before and After.

      
      
      Before, she had been working on the canvas that had troubled her for nearly three months. She had reworked it so many times,
         had stared at it, loved it and hated it, often at the same time. On that Thursday it had gone well. The blue was right, finally,
         and while she had the sun slanting in even strips from the skylight overhead she traced the lines with her brush delicately
         as though she was touching the softest human skin and not canvas.
      

      
      The phone rang and at first she ignored it. When the answering machine kicked in the caller rang off and then her mobile buzzed
         on the windowsill behind her. The caller display showed her father’s mobile. She ignored it as she usually did. He was not
         someone she really wanted to talk to, after all.
      

      
      Seconds later, the phone rang again. He wasn’t going to give up.

      
      ‘Dad? What is it? I’m working—’

      
      That was the moment. And then it was the After, and nothing was ever the same again.

      
      11:08

      
      Thursday had barely started and it was already proving to be a challenge for Lou Smith. Just after ten the call had come in
         from the boss, Detective Superintendent Buchanan. Area had called in a suspicious death and requested Major Crime’s attendance.
         A month after her promotion and the DCI on duty, it was her turn to lead the investigation.
      

      
      ‘Probably nothing,’ Buchanan had said. ‘You can hand it back to Area if it looks like the boyfriend’s done it, OK? Keep me
         updated.’
      

      
      Her heart was thudding as she’d disconnected the call. Please God, don’t let me balls it up.
      

      
      Lou reached for the grubby A–Z on the shelf in the main office; it’d be a darn sight quicker than logging on to the mapping
         software. She couldn’t remember ever having to go to Morden, which meant it was probably posh. The paramedics had turned up
         first and declared life well and truly extinct, waited for the patrols, and then buggered off on another call.
      

      
      The patrols had done what they were supposed to do – look for the offender (no sign), manage the witnesses (only one, so far,
         the woman who’d called it in) and preserve the scene (shut the door and stand outside). The Area DI had turned up shortly afterwards
         and it hadn’t been more than ten minutes before he’d called the Major Crime Superintendent. Which meant that this was clearly
         a murder, probably not domestic.
      

      
      ‘Nasty,’ the DI said cheerfully when Lou got to Yonder Cottage. ‘Your first one, isn’t it, ma’am? Good luck.’

      
      ‘Cheers.’

      
      Lou recognised him. He’d been one of the trainers when she’d been a probationer, which made the ‘ma’am’ feel rather awkward.

      
      ‘Where have you got to?’ she asked.

      
      ‘They’ve started the house-to-house,’ he responded. ‘Nothing so far. The woman who found her is in the kitchen up at the farmhouse
         with PC Gregson, the family liaison. Mrs Felicity Maitland. She owns the farm with her husband Nigel – Nigel Maitland?’
      

      
      The last two words were phrased as a question, implying that Lou should recognise the name. She did.

      
      Maitland had associates who were known to be involved in organised crime in Briarstone and London. He’d been brought in for
         questioning on several occasions for different reasons; each time he’d given a ‘no comment’ interview, or one where he stuck
         to one word answers, in the company of his very expensive solicitor. Each time he had been polite, cooperative as far as it
         went, and utterly unhelpful. Each time he had been released without charge. Circumstantial evidence, including his mobile
         phone number appearing on the itemised phone bill of three men who were eventually charged with armed robbery and conspiracy,
         had never amounted to enough to justify an arrest. Nevertheless, the links were there and officers in a number of departments
         were watching and waiting for him to make a mistake. In the meantime Nigel went about his legitimate day job, running his
         farm and maintaining his expensive golf club membership, the horses, the Mercedes and the Land Rover and the Porsche convertible,
         and stayed one step ahead.
      

      
      ‘Mrs Maitland’s in charge of the stables, leaves all the rest of it to her husband,’ the Area DI said. ‘The victim worked
         for them as a groom, lived here in the cottage rent-free. I gather she was a family friend.’
      

      
      ‘Any word on an offender?’

      
      ‘Nothing, so far. Apparently the victim lived on her own.’

      
      ‘What happened?’

      
      ‘She’s at the bottom of the stairs. Massive head trauma.’

      
      ‘Not a fall?’

      
      ‘Definitely not a fall.’

      
      ‘Weapon?’

      
      ‘Nothing obvious. CSI are on the way, apparently.’ He indicated the patrol officer standing guard. ‘This is PC Dave Forster.
         He got the short straw.’
      

      
      PC Forster grinned.

      
      DI Carter disappeared shortly after that, back to the station.

      
      Yonder Cottage was a square, brick-built house separated from the main road by an overgrown hedge and an expanse of gravel,
         upon which a dark blue Nissan Micra was parked. The scene tape stretched from the hedge to a birch tree and outside of this
         was a roughly tarmacked driveway which led up to a series of barns and outbuildings. Beyond this, apparently, was the main
         house of Hermitage Farm.
      

      
      ‘Right,’ Lou said, more to herself than to PC Forster, ‘let’s get started.’

      
      Her phone was ringing. The cavalry was on the way.

      






            	Email

            
            	 

            
         

         
         
            
            	To:

            
            	DCI 10023 Louisa SMITH

            
         

         
         
            
            	From:

            
            	DSupt 9143 Gordon BUCHANAN

            
         

         
         
            
            	Date:

            
            	Thursday 1 November 2012

            
         

         
         
            
            	Subject:

            
            	Op Nettle – Polly Leuchars

            
         

         
         
            
            	Louisa,

            
            	 

            
         

         
      

      

      Hope the MIR is coming together. Ops Planning have given us the name Op Nettle for the murder of Polly Leuchars. Let me know if you need any further help.
      

      
      Gordon

      










            
            	Email

            
            	 

            
         

         
         
            
            	To:

            
            	Central Analytical Team

            
         

         
         
            
            	From:

            
            	DCI 10023 Louisa SMITH

            
         

         
         
            
            	Date:

            
            	Thursday 1 November 2012

            
         

         
         
            
            	Subject:

            
            	Op Nettle – analytical requirement

            
         

         
      

      

     
      Could someone please contact me asap about providing an analyst for the Major Incident Room of Op Nettle. I have a full MIR
         team with the exception of an analyst and I have failed to reach anyone by phone.
      

      
      DCI Louisa Smith

      
      Major Crime




      
      11:29

      
      Julia Dobson, fifty-eight years old and current Ladies’ Golf Champion at the Morden Country Club, pulled the heavy velvet
         curtain slightly to one side and peered out. From where she stood in the bay window of Lentonbury Manor – which was not actually
         a manor house, in much the same way as Seaview Cottage, a few yards further towards the village, did not actually have a sea
         view – she could see some distance up Cemetery Lane towards the entrance to Hermitage Farm on the left, and Hayselden Barn
         on the right.
      

      
      ‘That makes three,’ she mused. ‘Good lord, what on earth is going on?’

      
      Ralph, her husband, murmured in reply from behind his copy of the Financial Times, delivered by the newsagent’s van an hour ago. They didn’t have a paperboy any more. The last one had nearly been run over
         by a tractor, and his mother had insisted he went and got a Saturday job at the greengrocer’s instead.
      

      
      ‘Ralph, you’re not listening,’ she said peevishly.

      
      ‘Three, you said,’ and then a moment later he shook his paper and looked up: ‘Three what?’

      
      ‘Police cars, Ralph. Three police cars in the lane. The first one had the siren going. You must have heard it! I wonder what’s
         going on?’
      

      
      He put the paper down and joined her at the window, mug of coffee in one hand, in time to observe an ambulance driving at
         speed down the lane. It turned into the driveway of Hayselden Barn, which was just within sight before the road bent sharply
         to the left. A police car rounded the bend from the opposite direction, and followed the ambulance into the driveway.
      

      
      ‘Barbara must have had one of her turns,’ Julia murmured.

      
      ‘“Turns”?’ he snorted. ‘That’s a new word for it.’

      
      Julia set her lips into a thin line. ‘Well, there’s only one way to find out.’ Without further ado she retrieved the phone
         handset and dialled the number for Hermitage Farm.
      

      
      12:45

      
      Taryn stared at her screen, trying to catch the reflection of the activity that was going on in her boss’s office, behind
         her and to her left.
      

      
      ‘They’re talking,’ Ellen said. She was sitting at the desk opposite and had a commanding view.

      
      ‘Have they all sat down?’ Taryn asked.

      
      ‘No. Reg is sitting behind his desk, but the two police are just standing there. Oh, hold on, here we go …’

      
      Taryn heard the office door open and couldn’t help turning round to look. Reg was heading in her direction. The two police
         officers were still in the office. One was a woman, which indicated that whoever they were here to see was about to receive some bad news.
      

      
      ‘Taryn, would you step into my office, please?’ Reg said, giving her a look that should have been empathetic but was somehow
         the wrong side of slimy.
      

      
      Please, let it not be about Chris, she thought. Prayed. Reg scuttled off in the direction of the kitchen. Maybe they’d told
         him to go and make a cup of tea – first time for everything, Taryn thought.
      

      
      She entered the office and shut the door firmly behind her.

      
      ‘Mrs Lewis? I’m PC Ian Richardson from Briarstone police station, and this is PC Yvonne Sanders. Would you like to take a
         seat?’
      

      
      They sat too and she wanted to say: Tell me now, tell me straight away. But the words wouldn’t come.

      
      ‘I’m here about your parents, Mrs Lewis. I’m afraid it’s bad news.’

      
      ‘My parents?’ That was a word she hadn’t heard used with any degree of accuracy since she was eleven years old.

      
      ‘Mr and Mrs Fletcher-Norman—’

      
      ‘Barbara Fletcher-Norman isn’t my mother.’

      
      This obviously was news to the young police officer and he seemed to momentarily lose his thread.

      
      ‘I’m sorry,’ Taryn said, ‘please go on.’

      
      ‘I – er – your father, Mr Brian Fletcher-Norman, is in hospital and I’m afraid he’s seriously ill. Your stepmother, Mrs Barbara
         Fletcher-Norman, was found dead earlier today. I’m very sorry.’
      

      
      Taryn looked at her hands. ‘Oh. I see. Thank you.’

      
      Now it was the female officer’s turn. ‘Is there anyone we can contact to be with you? I understand this must be difficult
         for you.’
      

      
      ‘No. Thank you.’

      
      They seemed to be waiting for her to say something more, so she looked at them in turn and said, ‘Can I get back to work now?’

      
      The officers exchanged glances.

      
      Taryn felt sorry for them. ‘I don’t get on with my father,’ she said patiently. ‘I haven’t seen him for … a long time. Thank
         you for your kindness, but really, I’m fine.’
      

      
      
      She stood and the officers got to their feet in unison. At the door she stopped and turned. ‘Do you need me to do anything?’

      
      The policewoman shook her head. ‘Not at the moment, Mrs Lewis. But if you did decide to go and visit your father, he is in
         intensive care at Briarstone General.’
      

      
      ‘Thank you.’

      
      Taryn slid back into her seat just as Reg slopped a coffee onto her desk. I don’t drink coffee, she thought, but Reg had never
         offered to make her a drink before so how would he know? She was trying to think when she had last been at the barn. Maybe
         April? It had been the argument about the bike, and instead of making the effort to put things right she had left it, and
         left it. It was the longest they’d gone without speaking.
      

      
      ‘Well?’ Ellen said, eyes eager. ‘What was all that about?’

      
      ‘Oh. My father’s in hospital, that’s all.’

      
      ‘That’s all? Goodness, are you all right? Shouldn’t you take the rest of the day off?’

      
      ‘No.’ She took a swig of the coffee despite herself, because it was there, and because her throat was horribly dry. ‘I haven’t
         seen him for ages. We don’t get along. So really, I’m fine. And I’m sure he will be too.’
      

      
      Ellen had no reply to this, so she left it, although she did continue giving Taryn the occasional odd look over the top of
         her screen.
      

      
      Despite her desire to get on with things, it was quite hard to concentrate, after that. Only half an hour later did she remember
         what they’d said about Barbara. Had they really said she was dead?
      

      
      13:02

      
      Louisa sat on the edge of a table, her mobile pressed to her ear. All around her was chaos and next to her a telecoms engineer
         plugged in a phone, which rang immediately. One of the DCs picked it up.
      

      
      ‘Incident room. She’s on the phone, I’m afraid. Can I help? Who? OK, what’s your number there? Hold on; let me find a piece
         of paper. Right. OK, I’ll get her to call you.’
      

      
      
      It was amazing how quickly the room was coming together.

      
      The first desk set up had been the Reader-Receiver’s. Barry Holloway was there, monitoring everything coming into the room.
         Initial witness statements, intelligence reports, transcripts of calls from the public; nothing came in without first going
         through Barry. He checked everything, gave it an audit log number, decided how urgent it was and who should get it next.
      

      
      Who should get it next was still up in the air. Desks were being pushed together, people arriving minutes after being assigned
         to the operation.
      

      
      On a whiteboard behind her, Louisa had written a notice in foot-high black letters:

      
      OP NETTLE
BRIEFING 1600hrs.

      
      She checked her watch, wondering if it was out of order to task one of the DCs with going to the canteen to get her a double
         espresso, when finally the phone was answered.
      

      
      ‘Senior analysts.’

      
      ‘Ah, so there is someone alive in there?’
      

      
      ‘Yes, there is.’ The man’s voice was decidedly chilly, and with an unexpected accent. American or Canadian? ‘Can I help you?’

      
      ‘This is DCI Lou Smith. I’m waiting in the MIR for Op Nettle in the hope that we might get an analyst.’

      
      There was a pause.

      
      ‘I’m sorry. Bear with me.’

      
      He didn’t sound sorry. He sounded pissed off. There was a longer pause.

      
      ‘Les?’ Lou said, putting a hand over the mouthpiece. ‘Can you save my life and go and get me a double espresso? And a KitKat.
         Cheers.’
      

      
      Then, in her ear: ‘I’m afraid there’s no one available today – they’re all out.’

      
      What the fuck? Lou took a deep breath. ‘This is a murder investigation. What do you mean, there’s no one available? There must be sixty bloody analysts and I only want one!’
      

      
      ‘Actually, since the reorganisation there are in fact only thirty-two analysts and they are all assigned to other duties.
         I’m the only senior here, and—’
      

      
      ‘What’s your name?’

      
      ‘Jason Mercer.’

      
      ‘Jason, please, find me someone in time for the briefing at four, and someone else who’s prepared to do the late turn.’
      

      
      A heavy sigh. ‘For sure.’

      
      Definitely Canadian, Lou decided.

      
      13:15

      
      After.

      
      Flora had spoken to her father and at the time she’d been calm, almost serene. She’d asked the right questions: When? How?
         And then she had put down the brush that was still in her hand, stared at the canvas that she knew already she would now never
         complete, and left.
      

      
      When she drove past Yonder Cottage there were police cars blocking the drive, an ambulance on the gravel outside the house.
         The PC who was standing beside the fluttering tape in his fluorescent jacket regarded her closely.
      

      
      She went on to the next turning, the main entrance to the farm. She drove up the driveway, which, at the top, curved round
         through the yard and back down towards the cottage. She parked outside the farmhouse.
      

      
      Flora’s mother, Felicity Maitland, was sliding into comfortable oblivion. Nigel Maitland had poured her a tumbler of brandy
         in the hope of calming her down before she made it into a full-on panic attack.
      

      
      Following her call to the police, Felicity had been looked after by the ambulance crew and the police had taken an initial
         statement from her at the cottage. Then she’d been walked back to the farmhouse by someone in a uniform.
      

      
      
      Now, hours later, Felicity was still in a state, vacillating between shuddering sobs and unnatural, staring stillness.

      
      ‘It was so utterly horrible,’ she said now. ‘Blood all over the walls, everywhere! The whole place will have to be redecorated,
         and we only did it last summer.’
      

      
      There were times Flora wanted to slap her mother, hard. She went to make toast for everyone, not least to soak up the brandy.
         The plain-clothes police officer who’d been assigned to them was leaning against the breakfast bar, fiddling with her mobile
         phone.
      

      
      ‘Would you like me to do that?’ she asked, when Flora came in.

      
      ‘No, it’s fine, thanks. Do you want some tea?’

      
      And at that moment Felicity’s voice rose again in a wail: ‘Oh God! Who’s going to do the horses?’

      
      ‘I’ll do them,’ said Nigel.

      
      ‘Oh God! I’ll have to put an advert in the paper, then it will be interviews! I can’t bear it, I can’t!’

      
      ‘What about Connor, Dad?’ Flora shouted. ‘I thought he was supposed to be a groom?’

      
      Nigel didn’t reply. Other than the phone call, he had not spoken directly to Flora.

      
      ‘He can’t be trusted,’ Felicity wailed. ‘Polly said he was always sloping off. I don’t know why you insist on having him here,
         Nigel, he’s more trouble than he’s worth, and—’
      

      
      ‘Oh for God’s sake!’ Flora called sharply. ‘I’ll do the bloody horses.’

      
      The toaster popped up and Flora applied herself to the task of buttering, slicing into halves. Tea. Must make the tea. What
         had the police officer said to her offer, yes or no? She couldn’t remember. She would make one anyway, not wanting to ask
         again; aware of the way the woman was watching her. Pretending to be here to help, but they were being watched, that was the
         truth of it. And right now the policewoman was watching her.
      

      
      Flora could remember the exact moment of the exact day when she fell in love with Polly Leuchars. It was on the fifteenth
         of December, almost a year ago. Half past ten in the morning and Polly was sitting at the kitchen table in the farmhouse, her long blonde
         hair pulled back in a tight ponytail, wearing a jumper, jeans and thick socks. Her boots were on the mat.
      

      
      ‘Where’s my mum?’ Flora asked, wondering who this was.

      
      ‘Are you Flora? My, you’ve grown up since I last saw you,’ the person said, with a beautiful smile. ‘I’m Polly. You probably
         don’t remember me. I’ve come to work.’
      

      
      It turned out that Felicity had known Polly was coming but had neglected to tell anyone else. Polly was the daughter of Cassandra
         Leuchars, an old school friend of Felicity’s. Polly needed a job for a year or so before she went travelling. And when she
         was reminded, Flora remembered her from years ago, from family holidays when Cassandra had been abroad and had left Polly
         with them.
      

      
      She was twenty-six, and the most beautiful thing Flora had ever seen. It was hard to believe that the thin, quiet blonde girl
         who lurked on the fringes of her childhood memories could have turned into this lithe, confident, always-smiling young woman.
      

      
      Who on earth would want to hurt Poll? Who could do it?

      
      15:37

      
      Nearly time for the briefing. Lou had asked Barry Holloway to do most of the talking for the first one. Not, strictly speaking,
         the way it was usually done, but to his credit he didn’t argue or ask her to explain. She wanted to watch the room, keep an
         eye on them all, see their reactions – gauge from it who she could use, who she would need to keep an eye on.
      

      
      The room was almost ready – it had previously been the central ticketing office, but they’d been moved to the new traffic
         unit two weeks ago. Fortunately, as it turned out, because the room usually reserved for MIRs was already in use. There had
         been three armed robberies in the space of a month, a bank manager and a member of the public shot dead, and the investigation
         for that was well underway.
      

      
      
      In a way this room was better, Lou realised; the area briefing room was right next door, which meant they could use it without
         having to lug all the equipment backwards and forwards, and the canteen was just up the corridor. The downside was that the
         only windows looked out onto a brick wall and a few had bars on them because it was the former cell block. The nearest custody
         suite was now a few miles away in Briarstone nick, which wasn’t ideal, but no one asked anyone who was ever actually affected
         by these management decisions what they thought.
      

      
      A knock on the door of her goldfish bowl office which was right in the corner; Mandy, one of the HOLMES inputters. ‘More for
         you,’ she said, handing over another pile of papers to add to the collection.
      

      
      ‘Thanks. How’s it looking out there?’

      
      ‘Well,’ Mandy said, with a discreet cough, ‘were you expecting DI Hamilton?’

      
      ‘Oh, shit.’ Lou felt the blood drain from her cheeks. ‘What’s he doing here? I asked for Rob Jefferson.’

      
      ‘Apparently DI Jefferson’s done his back in. Sorry. Thought you should know.’

      
      Lou pulled herself together and managed a smile. ‘Thanks, Mandy. All the photos ready?’

      
      Mandy nodded, and left her to it.

      
      Fucking Andy Hamilton – that was all she needed. Another knock at the door, and Lou looked up to see Andy’s bulky frame filling
         the glass window. She took a deep breath and beckoned him in.
      

      
      ‘Guv,’ Andy acknowledged, giving her his best charming smile.

      
      She regarded him steadily. He’d put on weight since she’d last seen him, but he was still attractive, that dark hair and dark,
         neatly trimmed goatee. Eyes that were wicked, that suggested imminent misbehaviour.
      

      
      ‘Andy. How are you?’

      
      ‘Great, thanks. You’re looking … well.’ His eyes had managed to travel from her new shoes, up her legs, to her face, within
         a fraction of a second.
      

      
      
      She gave him a smile so tight it pinched. ‘We’ve got a briefing in twenty minutes. Have you got a desk?’

      
      ‘I’ll find one. It’s going to be great working with you again, Lou.’ He was disarmingly relaxed. Not fair.

      
      ‘How’s Karen? And the kids?’

      
      Andy’s expression tensed, but only slightly. ‘They’re all fine.’

      
      ‘Is Leah sleeping through yet?’

      
      ‘Not quite. We have the odd good night here and there.’

      
      ‘This is going to be a tough case, Andy. If you’re finding it difficult fitting it around home, I want to know about it, OK?
         I can’t have you not with us a hundred per cent on this.’
      

      
      ‘You know me, boss. Loads of energy and up for anything.’ He finished with his cheekiest grin, and a wink.

      
      Lou felt something twist inside her. She looked up at him. ‘Strictly work, Andy, OK?’

      
      ‘Sure thing.’ And he was gone.

      
      But he had always had trouble taking no for an answer.

      
      15:40

      
      Flora pulled her cold wellington boots on over her thick socks in the mudroom at the back door.

      
      ‘Can I come with you?’ the policewoman asked, appearing in the doorway.

      
      ‘Sure,’ Flora said, her tone unnaturally bright. ‘You’ll need boots. Here, try these.’

      
      The woman slipped off her shoes and pulled Felicity’s old boots over the top of her smart grey trousers. ‘They’ll do,’ she
         said.
      

      
      ‘What’s your name?’ Flora asked, giving in at last.

      
      ‘Miranda Gregson,’ came the reply.

      
      As soon as she heard the name Flora remembered it. ‘Of course. Sorry.’

      
      ‘That’s OK. It’s a difficult time.’

      
      She gave Miranda one of her father’s jackets to wear and they set off towards the stables. It was already starting to get
         dark, a wind blustering and swirling around the farm buildings, tugging at their clothes.
      

      
      
      ‘I used to go riding when I was younger,’ Miranda said. ‘I helped out at some stables at the weekends. Loved it.’

      
      Flora didn’t answer. Given a choice, she would much prefer to work with this woman than Connor Petrie. Nigel had phoned him
         twenty minutes ago and told him to get his arse down to the stables. He’d been somewhere else, clearly, even though he was
         supposed to be working.
      

      
      Petrie, leaning against the horsebox, gave them a wave as they approached. ‘Who’s this, then?’

      
      ‘This is one of the police officers,’ Flora said quickly. ‘Miranda.’

      
      ‘You here about Polly?’ he asked. ‘Boss told me. Lots of blood everywhere, right?’

      
      ‘Shut up!’ Flora snapped at him. ‘Have some bloody respect. You’re here to work.’

      
      ‘I’m the Family Liaison Officer,’ Miranda said, her tone even. ‘Here to help, if I can.’ She offered her hand and after some
         shuffling and wiping, Connor gave it a brief shake.
      

      
      Oh God, this was no good. The ugly little bastard was going to have her crying in a minute. She had come out here to try and
         take her mind off the subject of Polly’s death, lose herself in mindless physical activity. She walked away from them to the
         hay store. Connor could talk to the police all he wanted, she wouldn’t be there to listen. Didn’t care any more, in any case.
      

      
      
      MG11 WITNESS STATEMENT

      








            	Section 1 – Witness details

            
         

         
         
            
            	NAME:

            
            	Felicity Jane Elizabeth MAITLAND

            
         

         
         
            
            	DOB (if under 18; if over 18 state ‘Over 18’):

            
            	Over 18

            
         

         
         
            
            	ADDRESS:

            
            	Hermitage Farm
Cemetery Lane
Morden
Briarstone

            
            	OCCUPATION:

            
            	Farm manager/housewife

            
         

         
         
            
            	Section 2 – Investigating Officer

            
         

         
         
            
            	DATE:

            
            	Thursday 1 November

            
         

         
         
            
            	OIC:

            
            	DS 10194 Samantha HOLLANDS

            
         

         
         
            
            	Section 3 – Text of Statement

            
         

         
         
            
            	My name is Felicity Maitland and I own and run Hermitage Farm, together with my husband Nigel. My main role is running the
               stables. We have five horses, three of which are liveries, the remaining two belong to us.
            

         

         
         
            
            	Polly Leuchars is a family friend and has been working with us since December last year, looking after the horses. As part
               of the arrangement we allowed Polly to live at Yonder Cottage, which is part of the farm estate. She was expected to be working
               with us for another few months, after which she was planning on travelling. I do not know where to.
            

         

         
         
            
            	On Wednesday 31 October Polly came to work as normal. She asked if she could go into town at lunchtime, and I agreed. She
               offered to do some shopping for me as well. She left in her car at about 12.30. I did not see her again until 3, when I saw
               her riding out in the top field.
            

            
         

         
         
            
            	I saw her return a couple of hours later through my kitchen window and I went to the stables to talk to her. She said she
               had been unable to get the things I wanted. I was very disappointed, as I could have gone into town myself if she had told
               me sooner. We had a bit of an argument about it. She left without finishing off the work in the stables, claiming she had
               a headache. The last time I saw her alive was around 5.30.
            

            
         

         
         
            
            	The next morning Polly was due to start work at 7 but at about 9 I noticed that the horses weren’t out in the back field,
               so I went down to see what was happening. Polly wasn’t there. The horses were quite agitated as they usually have breakfast
               by 8. I fed them and let them out into the field. After that I went to Yonder Cottage to see where she was. By the time I
               got there it was probably gone 9.30.
            

            
         

         
         
            
            	I noticed Polly’s car was in its usual place and the back door to the cottage, which we use as the main entrance since it
               is nearer the road, was wide open. It opens into the kitchen and I could see blood there. I called out several times but there
               was no response. I was very frightened. I went to go through to the stairs. The door to the hallway was not completely shut,
               but I needed to push it open in order to go through.
            

            
         

         
         
            
            	I could see a body on the floor, right by the door, and a lot of blood everywhere. I almost fell over the body, which I recognised
               as that of Polly Leuchars by the colour of her hair and her build.
            

            
         

         
         
            
            	I went back into the kitchen and used the phone there to dial 999.

            
            
         

         
         
            
            	I did not notice if anything was missing from the house and I do not know why anyone would want to kill Polly.

            
         

         
         
            
            	Section 4 – Signatures

            
         









        
            
            	WITNESS: (Felicity Maitland)

            
            	OIC: (S Hollands DS 10194)

            
         

         
      

      
      
      15:57

      
      ‘Right, let’s have some hush, please,’ Lou said, hoping her voice sounded more commanding than she felt. The briefing room
         was packed. Andy Hamilton was sitting right at the front; next to him was Barry Holloway. Her Detective Sergeant, Sam Hollands,
         was at the back, her mouth set in a determined line. Lou knew she would probably never have so many people at a briefing again;
         by the time the first week was over, she would start to lose people to other duties and would have to beg, borrow or steal
         to get them back. If, heaven forbid, the case was to drag on into months, she would end up with only a couple of the people
         here now.
      

      
      She needed a quick arrest.

      
      A few moments before her mobile had rung. The display said it was the Superintendent, probably calling for a pre-briefing
         update, or maybe to wish her luck with it. Whatever it was, she would have to ring him afterwards. Being late for the briefing
         would not be a promising start.
      

      
      She was quietly relieved at how quickly silence had descended on the room. She wasn’t going to get too many chances to find
         her place at the head of this team.
      

      
      ‘For those of you I’ve not met, I am DCI Louisa Smith. I’m going to give you some background, and then I’ll hand over to Barry
         who will get us all up to speed on where we are now. Firstly, let me say that if you have any problems here I want you to
         feel you can come and see me or call me at any time. We all need a swift result with this one. And, as you’re aware, this
         is a murder enquiry, and anything you hear in this briefing may be of a sensitive nature, so please keep it to yourselves.’
         The standard warning.
      

      
      Clicking the down arrow on her laptop, the first slide:

      
      OP NETTLE
Murder of Polly LEUCHARS

      
      With a picture of Polly herself, taken earlier in the year; it was a poignant photograph because she looked so young, so alive,
         beautiful, in a fresh, carefree sort of way, with long white-blonde hair and a tanned skin from spending the summer outdoors.
      

      
      ‘This morning at just after nine-forty, Polly Leuchars’ body was found by her employer at her home, Yonder Cottage, Cemetery
         Lane, Morden. Polly worked as a groom at Hermitage Farm and lived in the cottage because she was a family friend of the Maitlands,
         who, as we all know, own and run Hermitage Farm.’
      

      
      A few murmurs.

      
      ‘Polly was on the floor in the downstairs hallway and had been severely beaten. She was wearing pyjamas and her bed had been
         slept in. Early estimates from the pathologist put the time of death as between midnight and four, although this needs to
         be confirmed.’
      

      
      Lou looked at the sea of faces. She still had their undivided attention and some of the Late Turn were busy making notes.
         ‘Right, over to you, Barry. For those of you who don’t know, Barry Holloway is our reader-receiver.’
      

      
      ‘Guv.’

      
      Lou stepped to one side of the projection screen, watching the room.

      
      Barry fiddled with the laptop. ‘Anyone not happy with scene photos, look away now, folks. Otherwise I’ll warn you when we
         get to the really grim ones.’
      

      
      The first slide came up, a picture of the kitchen of Yonder Cottage. Blood on the floor, on the work surfaces.

      
      ‘Good news and bad news so far. The good news: we’ve probably got forensics all over the place. Nothing confirmed until we
         get the CSI report back, but for now spatter marks indicate the main attack took place downstairs in the hallway. No sign
         of forced entry but apparently the back door wasn’t routinely locked. No sign of the murder weapon, and we’re waiting for
         confirmation of what that could be. Something solid and heavy in any case.’
      

      
      The slides clicked over to the stairs. ‘We’ve got some good shoe marks, and a smeared handprint. Likelihood of fingerprints
         is pretty good. Brace yourselves for the next few, if you’re squeamish.’
      

      
      
      Next slide, the hallway, stairway to the rear. Body in situ.

      
      Click. Close up onto what remained of Polly Leuchars. She was face down, one arm up near her head, the other by her side,
         one knee brought up, wearing cotton pyjamas, patches of pink still visible in all the dark brown and red; flashes of still-blonde
         hair; white bone showing through.
      

      
      Click. The side of Polly’s face, swollen, purple skin in the places where you could actually see the skin. What could have
         been bruising under a still perfect shell-like ear.
      

      
      Someone in the room let out a long breath; otherwise there was silence.

      
      ‘As you can see, this is a nasty one. There’s not a lot of Polly’s head left. We had to get initial identification from the
         Maitlands via some jewellery, although Felicity Maitland assumed it was Polly from her size and her hair. Extensive blood
         loss here, here and over here.’
      

      
      Lou looked across at the faces, earnestly looking at the bloody scene on display and trying not to show emotion. They’d all
         seen stuff like this before, but it didn’t mean they were unaffected by it.
      

      
      ‘Post mortem hopefully tomorrow. We’ll have to wait until then for the first thoughts. Guv.’

      
      ‘Thanks, Barry.’ Lou resumed her place and flipped on to the next slide. ‘This is where we are now. We have an initial witness
         statement from Felicity Maitland. Sam’s been in touch with Miranda Gregson, who is our FLO. She’s been with the family all
         afternoon. How are they, Sam?’
      

      
      Sam Hollands, stockily built with a sweep of heavy blonde hair, spoke up from the back. ‘Felicity Maitland is in a bad way
         and her husband keeps feeding her alcohol which isn’t helping. Flora, their daughter, has been looking after everyone, not
         saying much. She’s got a flat in Briarstone.’
      

      
      ‘What about Polly’s parents?’

      
      ‘The mother, Cassandra Leuchars, died a few years ago. I asked about Polly’s father but nobody seems to know who that is.’

      
      A hand went up at the back. ‘Ma’am?’

      
      
      ‘Yes?’ Lou didn’t know this one. A brown-haired chap, older.

      
      ‘DC Ron Mitchell. We just had reports come in of another body being found this morning, might be linked to this – did you
         get that already?’
      

      
      Lou hated to be wrong-footed, especially in a briefing. ‘Thanks, Ron, could you enlighten us, please?’

      
      ‘I got a report from PC Ian Richardson from Briarstone nick. He’s been dealing with a suspected suicide, complicated by the
         husband of the deceased keeling over with a heart attack when a patrol went round to break the news. Dog walker saw a car
         had gone over the quarry cliff at Ambleside, called it in. Initial patrol and paramedics went down via the access track. Too
         ropey for cars unfortunately, so they got down there on foot. After that it took a while to get the rescue team to get some
         abseil gear down there. Anyway, there’s a woman’s body in the driver’s seat of the car. Bit of a mess. The car’s a silver
         Corsa, new shape. Index goes down to a Mrs Barbara Fletcher-Norman, address Hayselden Barn, Cemetery Lane, Morden – right
         across the road from Hermitage Farm.’
      

      
      That got everyone’s attention.

      
      ‘What happened with the husband?’ Lou said.

      
      ‘They got to the address and the old man was getting out of the shower. Says he thought his wife had gone out early, that
         he got back from work late last night and went to bed, assumed she was out with friends. So he hadn’t seen her since yesterday
         morning when he left for work.’
      

      
      ‘Right,’ said Lou, not sure where this was heading.

      
      ‘Well, then it gets interesting.’ Ron, loving the attention, flipped over the pages of his notebook with a flourish. ‘Ian
         Richardson went into the kitchen with him, and there’s what looks like blood in there. Not all over the place, but the kitchen’s
         a mess and there’s blood on a tea towel by the sink. Husband seems dead shocked by this. Claims he never went into the kitchen
         last night or this morning. Pretty soon he started having trouble breathing, then all of a sudden he went grey and collapsed.
         They called for Eden District Ambulance Trust and did CPR in the meantime but it was a few minutes before the ambulance got there. I think it was the one that had been up at the cottage.’
      

      
      Lou looked across the faces for someone reliable and unfortunately alighted on Andy Hamilton. The call from Buchanan must
         have been about this. What were the chances? Two bodies from adjacent properties, on the same morning, in a tiny place like
         Morden? They had to be linked.
      

      
      ‘Andy, they’ll probably open a second case for this, even though it might be part of our job. Can you find out who’s in charge
         and see if you can take it on? We won’t be able to get a search team or CSI in there but we need to make sure the Barn is
         sealed off until we can treat it as a scene. We don’t know it’s linked, but I think for now we should assume it is.’
      

      
      ‘Ma’am.’ Andy smiled warmly, clearly pleased with himself for landing a juicy job.

      
      ‘Ron, anything else?’

      
      ‘Briarstone ran a next-of-kin check through the old boy’s work and the only name they came up with was a Mrs Taryn Lewis,
         daughter of Brian Fletcher-Norman, the husband. Turns out she’s not spoken to her father for months. That’s about where we’ve
         got to.’
      

      
      ‘Where is this place in relation to our cottage, exactly?’

      
      ‘A hundred yards or so away, no more.’

      
      ‘Right.’ Lou digested the information, working out the best step forward with it. ‘Thanks, Ron. How’s Mr Fletcher-Norman doing,
         do we know?’
      

      
      ‘He’s in intensive care in Briarstone General. Not looking too bright. Be lucky to get an interview any time soon.’

      
      ‘And what about the body in the car?’

      
      ‘Waiting for PM.’

      
      ‘Thanks, Ron. I’ll leave that one with you.’

      
      Ron was slightly red in the face. Lou guessed it had been a good few years since he’d been able to play a trump card in an
         initial briefing. They were on the home straight now, at least.
      

      
      ‘Barry? Back to you. How’s the intel looking?’

      
      
      Barry Holloway was the most experienced member of her team as far as Major Crime was concerned. He’d been the reader in more
         MIRs than she could count.
      

      
      ‘Thanks. Right, pin your ears back, chaps. We’ve got a witness who thinks he saw a car going over the cliff last night. That
         came in on the box while you were talking, ma’am. And something from Crimestoppers. An anonymous caller saying Polly Leuchars
         was having an affair with someone in the village. Another Crimestoppers, suggesting we might want to look closer at the Fletcher-Normans
         – well, we’re ahead of the game on that one. Mrs Maitland says that Polly went on a shopping trip to Briarstone yesterday
         lunchtime, was gone three hours or so. We’ll get CCTV, see if we can track her movements. I had a look on ANPR for Polly’s
         vehicle, no results unfortunately, but then the back road into Briarstone isn’t covered unless the mobile camera unit happens
         to be there. We’ve got a sighting of Polly in the Lemon Tree last night. She left before closing time, so we’ll need to interview
         the regulars, see who she was meeting. And two reports of a car revving and driving away at speed during the night not far
         from the cottage. We’ll get more tomorrow morning after the press conference.’
      

      
      ‘Right,’ Lou had almost forgotten that she was going to be broadcast to the nation tomorrow morning and felt a lurch of nausea
         at the prospect. It would be nice to be able to go to the press conference with a firm picture of what had happened to their
         victim.
      

      
      ‘Can we see what the latest is on Nigel Maitland?’

      
      ‘Already checked that,’ Barry said. ‘Nothing recent. I’ve put a source tasking in.’

      
      ‘What about the house-to-house?’

      
      ‘Jane Phelps is organising that; she’s still out there with Les. I spoke to her before we came in and it’s all village gossip
         so far, no dramas. She said she’d ring in when they’re done. Patrols did most of it this morning before we got there, anyway.
         She’s going round again to make sure.’
      

      
      ‘Thanks. Well, that’s about it for now. Any questions?’

      
      
      Murmurs, everyone itching to get on with it.

      
      ‘Right. Next briefing tomorrow morning, eight sharp. I’m talking to the press at nine, so let’s see if we can stay ahead of
         them. OK. Let’s go.’
      

      
      A brief second, and then the shuffling of chairs, rustling of papers, laughter, voices. A few handshakes, people who’d been
         off working other areas and found themselves back on the team together.
      

      
      Lou let out a long, slow breath, dealt with the few people who came up to her afterwards with comments, suggestions, or ideas
         that they hadn’t felt brave enough to pipe up with in the briefing.
      

      
      Then there was only one person left, someone she didn’t know, leaning casually against the back wall, arms crossed, giving
         her his complete and undivided attention. He had dark hair, broad shoulders and – most disconcerting of all – a black eye.
      

      
      ‘Can I help you?’ she asked, wondering with a snap of fear if someone had been in the briefing who shouldn’t have been.

      
      ‘I’m Jason Mercer.’

      
      She’d forgotten the name but there was no mistaking that accent. Shit! Had she been really rude to him on the phone earlier?
         A warm flush spreading across her cheeks, she decided there was only one way to play this: pretend it never happened.
      

      
      ‘Hi. Did you have any luck finding me an analyst?’ she asked, shaking his hand. His was warm, his grip firm. He looked her
         in the eye, held her gaze. The dark bruise, a smudge across the bridge of his nose, made the green of his eyes more striking.
      

      
      ‘Yes and no – I’m afraid you’ve got me.’

      
      ‘Well, thank you. I’m glad you’re here. Did you get everything you needed from the briefing?’

      
      ‘I think so. Presumably you want a network, timeline, that sort of thing?’

      
      ‘Yes, please.’

      
      ‘What about the phones?’

      
      ‘Jane Phelps is going to be the exhibits officer. When she’s back later I’ll get a list of them for you. She’s already put
         the applications in for the billings of all of the phones we have. We didn’t find Polly’s phone at the cottage, unfortunately, but we’ve got the number from the Maitlands.’
      

      
      She led him out of the briefing room, stopping at Barry Holloway’s desk to introduce them. But they had worked together on
         a case before and shook hands briefly. ‘We’ve got you a desk sorted out and the workstation’s all loaded and ready to go,’
         Barry said.
      

      
      ‘Can you brief me tomorrow morning?’ Lou asked. ‘Before the press conference?’

      
      Jason looked her straight in the eye once again. ‘Sure. I’ll see what I can do.’

      
      Turning away, walking back to her poky little office, Lou wondered why her heart was pounding and her skin felt as if it was
         on fire.
      

      
      16:10

      
      When Flora got back, Miranda Gregson and Petrie were nowhere to be found. She began mucking out the stables, managing to hold
         herself together as long as she didn’t think about Polly doing this and now never doing it again. She kept her eyes on the
         wet straw and horseshit, shovelling it into the wheelbarrow and then over to the heap.
      

      
      ‘Flora!’

      
      Flora groaned. He was back. Connor-bloody-Petrie.

      
      ‘Where have you been?’ she said, not looking up until his green wellington boots appeared in her line of vision, directly
         in her way.
      

      
      He was standing with his hands in his pockets, looking casual and jolly as if he owned the stables and felt the need to supervise
         his own personal shit-shoveller. ‘I was giving that nice police lady a tour of the farm,’ he said. ‘None of you lot bothered
         to do that, did you?’
      

      
      ‘Where is she now?’

      
      ‘Back in the kitchen.’

      
      ‘You’re in the way,’ she said.

      
      He didn’t move, but his weasel smile dropped from his face, making him look decidedly nasty – which he was. But as well as
         being an evil bastard, he was also a foot shorter than Flora and she wasn’t afraid of him.
      

      
      ‘What you doin’ here anyway? You don’t even live here.’

      
      She put down the fork and leaned on it. ‘What does it look like I’m doing?’

      
      ‘Looks like you’re taking your time about it, if you ask me,’ he said.

      
      ‘I’m not,’ she said. ‘And you should be doing this. It is your job. Grab the barrow and give me a hand.’
      

      
      ‘Not me. Your dad’s got important stuff for me to do today.’

      
      ‘What important stuff?’

      
      He tapped the side of his pointed nose conspiratorially. ‘None of your business, Flora. You keep mucking out like a good girl
         and I’ll come back later and check you done it right.’
      

      
      That was it. Enough.

      
      She dropped the fork. It clattered and bounced off the concrete yard, but Flora didn’t even hear the noise because by that
         time Petrie was face down in the dung heap, Flora’s knee in his back. She had him by the scruff of his too-big, hand-me-down
         waxed jacket that made him feel so self-important. He was shouting as best he could, calling out: ‘No, no! Lemme up! You stupid
         bi-bi-bitch!’
      

      
      ‘Flora! Let him up.’

      
      She took her knee off his back and turned to see her father in the yard.

      
      ‘Nige!’ Petrie was shouting, wiping his face and pulling bits of straw and dung from the front of his jacket. ‘You see what
         she did? Did ya see? Bitch!’
      

      
      He made a move towards Flora but Nigel stepped forward and Petrie backed off immediately.

      
      ‘You’re fine, Connor,’ he said, calmly. ‘Go and wash your hands and face.’

      
      Petrie complied, looking daggers at Flora as he made his way round the yard towards the offices at the end. ‘Fuckin’ cow,’
         he muttered.
      

      
      ‘Feel better?’ Nigel asked, when Petrie was out of the way.

      
      ‘He’s a piece of crap. Why do you bother with him? He doesn’t want to work, he’s a lazy little bastard.’

      
      
      ‘I know. But he has his uses.’

      
      ‘Polly hated him,’ Flora said, and then stopped short.

      
      ‘Polly tolerated him,’ Nigel said.

      
      A single tear fell, taking her by surprise. She turned back to the stables, wiping her face angrily. She wasn’t going to cry
         in front of him, that was for sure.
      

      
      ‘Come on, Flora. Let’s go and have a drink. All right?’

      
      ‘I need to get this done,’ she said. ‘Nobody else is going to do it, are they?’

      
      He stood for a moment watching her, haunting her peripheral vision, and then he turned and left her to it.

      
      One more stable to do, and then she could go and walk. Clear her head.

      
      17:54

      
      Over the course of the afternoon, police came and went at Hermitage Farm. Flora finished at the stables and left Connor to
         bring the horses in. It was dark by that time, so she gave up on the walk and stayed in the kitchen, making endless cups of
         tea.
      

      
      Felicity sat holding court as various neighbours came to call and talk about the trauma. Miranda Gregson loitered, making
         detailed notes of all the visitors, who they were, where they lived, taking contact phone numbers should the police wish to
         ask them further questions.
      

      
      At a quarter to six the one Flora remembered as Sam came back again. She had an air of kindness about her, patient with Felicity
         despite all the dithering and rambling.
      

      
      When the madness had isolated itself into the room that held her mother, Flora slipped upstairs to the bathroom and tried
         to phone Taryn. She wanted to tell her about Polly, but also that it seemed something was going on at the Barn too. None of
         the police officers had said anything, but there had been an ambulance and police cars over there since late morning. Maybe
         Polly had been the victim of a burglary or robbery that went wrong and the same thing had happened over at the Barn?
      

      
      
      It was pointless to speculate. Taryn’s phone number went unanswered, and her mobile phone was switched off.

      
      ‘Flora? Flora?’ shouted her mother. ‘Flora? They want to take our fingerprints – and our DNA!’

      
      She returned to the kitchen, heart thudding.

      
      ‘It’s fine,’ said Sam, gently. It was as if she could tell that Flora was feeling the loss more than the rest of them. ‘It’s
         routine. We expect your prints to be in the cottage; it’s the ones we don’t expect to find that we’re interested in. We need to take yours for elimination
         purposes.’
      

      
      And there, on the table, an ink-pad, a roller, sheets of paper, plastic sealable bags. Her mother at the sink, already scrubbing
         at her finger tips with the Fairy Liquid and a pan scourer.
      

      
      Nigel came in as Sam was explaining the process to Flora: fingerprints, then cheek swabs for the DNA.

      
      ‘You can forget about taking mine for now; I want to speak to my solicitor first,’ her father said and went to the office
         to make a phone call. By the time he came back Flora was washing her hands.
      

      
      ‘I’d like it to be noted that I’m cooperating fully,’ he said to Sam.

      
      ‘I’m happy to note that.’

      
      Flora watched her father as he allowed the officer to manipulate his fingers, one by one, against the ink-pad. He must be
         hating this, hating having them here. He was hiding it well, though, and it was something she had always grudgingly admired
         – the more difficult the circumstances, the more he turned on the charm, the easy, relaxed confidence.
      

      
      And the oddest thing: Flora, with nothing at all to hide, felt nervy and guilty and afraid while Nigel, with the most to fear,
         was as relaxed and confident as she’d ever seen him.
      

      
      
      MG11 WITNESS STATEMENT

      








            	Section 1 – Witness details

         

         
         
            
            	NAME:

            
            	Richard John HARRISON

            
         

         
         
            
            	DOB (if under 18; if over 18 state ‘Over 18’):

            
            	Over 18

            
         

         
         
            
            	ADDRESS:

            
            	35 Priory Acre
Morden
Briarstone

            
            	OCCUPATION:

            
            	Retired

            
         

         
         
            
            	Section 2 – Investigating Officer

            
         

         
         
            
            	DATE:

            
            	Thursday 1 November

         

         
         
            
            	OIC:

            
            	DC 8745 Alastair WHITMORE

            
            
         

         
         
            
            	Section 3 – Text of Statement

            
         

         
         
            
            	I am a retired accountant and I live in the village of Morden. On the morning of Thursday 1 November I was walking my Jack
               Russell, Lima, on the Downs outside the village. Our usual walk takes us across the fields to the old quarry at Ambleside,
               skirting round the top of the quarry, and then back home.
            

           
         

         
         
            
            	I left home at around 6.30. It was still quite dark but by the time we reached the quarry it was fairly light. I estimate
               that we were there no later than seven.
            

            
           
         

         
         
            
            	When we reached Ambleside Quarry Lima ran off into the bushes, barking. I believed she was chasing a rabbit and I followed
               her because I didn’t want her to go over the edge of the quarry. When I cleared the bushes I noticed that there was a car
               lying on its roof at the foot of the cliff on the far side of the quarry. I believe this is directly under where the car park
               is situated.
            

       

         
         
            
            	I could not see what make of car it was, except that it was silver in colour. I do not believe the car had been there yesterday
               when we took our walk as I would have noticed it.
            

         

         
         
            
            	I called out in case someone was trapped in the car, shouting that I was going to get help.

         

         
         
            
            	I walked back to the path where I found Lima waiting for me. I attached her lead and walked quickly home, where I phoned for
               the police and an ambulance.
            

         

         
         
            
            	Section 4 – Signatures

            
         


         






            
            	WITNESS: (R Harrison)

            
            	OIC: (A Whitmore)

            
         

         
      


      
      
      20:39

      
      It was heading towards nine, and Lou was reaching the point where nothing more could be usefully done until the morning. She
         would grab a takeaway on the way home – her stomach was growling and she realised she hadn’t eaten anything since the KitKat
         she’d had in the morning.
      

      
      ‘I thought you said the witness saw the car go over the cliff?’ she asked Ron when the statement came back.

      
      ‘Sorry, ma’am, it was third-hand info by the time I got it. We know it definitely happened overnight, though. The countryside
         warden says it wasn’t there at six the night before. PM on the body should tell us more.’
      

      
      ‘Do we have any idea when that’s going to be?’

      
      ‘I’ve asked for it to be prioritised and linked it to Op Nettle. Might have it by the morning if we’re lucky. They recovered
         the body and the car.’
      

      
      Back in her office, she braced herself to phone Andy Hamilton’s mobile. Went through the motions of looking it up on the Force
         Directory, even though she knew it off by heart.
      

      
      ‘Andy, it’s me,’ she said, when he answered.

      
      ‘Yeah,’ he said.

      
      Of course. He knew her number as well as she knew his. God, this was so awkward; she was glad she’d managed to push him aside
         to the other body. With a bit of luck, the two cases would be completely unrelated and she could get another DI in.
      

      
      Could she ever be that lucky? Of course not.

      
      ‘Area are desperate to get rid of this one, boss. They’ve been on to Mr Buchanan, claiming it’s definitely linked to Hermitage
         Farm. I think we’re going to have to take it.’
      

      
      Shit, shit! She’d completely forgotten to phone the Superintendent back. She would have to do it the minute she got off
         the phone.
      

      
      ‘Have they got any actual evidence linking it?’

      
      ‘Witness statements to say that Brian Fletcher-Norman was having an affair with Polly Leuchars. Witness statements going on
         about how unstable Barbara – that’s our body in the quarry – was, how she was jealous, an alcoholic.’
      

      
      ‘Evidence, Andy? Rather than village gossip?’

      
      ‘Nothing yet. I reckon Barbara went over to confront Polly about her affair with Brian, got riled up enough to kill her, then
         went back to the barn. Washed her hands, was overcome with remorse, drove drunk to the quarry and went over. Accidentally-on-purpose.’
      

      
      ‘Thanks for that, Sherlock.’

      
      ‘You’re welcome.’

      
      ‘If you know anything more by tomorrow morning, come to the briefing?’

      
      ‘Wouldn’t miss it.’

      
      Every little thing felt like flirting where Hamilton was concerned. Did he do it to everyone, or just to Lou? And how did
         you stamp your authority on the working relationship when there was this sort of history between you? Two months ago, she’d
         been a DI and his ranking equal. When it had happened, she’d been his sergeant. Her swift rise to DCI was all to do with her
         grim determination to get her head down and concentrate on work rather than let herself be distracted by men, or one man in
         particular – Andy Hamilton.
      

      
      Sooner or later she was going to have to have a chat with him. It wasn’t going to be pleasant, but it had to be better than
         this.
      

      
      She dialled the number for Mr Buchanan’s secretary. No answer, of course, not at this time of night. She tried the mobile,
         and got the answering service.
      

      
      ‘Sir, Lou Smith. Sorry I didn’t get back to you earlier. I’m guessing you were calling about the second case in Morden. I’ve
         sent Andy Hamilton over to establish links, if there are any. Hope this is OK. If you need me, the mobile’s on, otherwise
         I’ll brief you tomorrow first thing. Thanks. Bye.’
      

      
      With luck, Buchanan wouldn’t phone back tonight.

      
      The next person on the list was Jane Phelps, who had finally made it back to the office. Lou had worked with Jane before,
         had confidence in her.
      

      
      ‘How’s the house-to-house?’

      
      
      Jane waved a small pile of papers. ‘All done for now. Area had covered most of it before we got there. Lots of people seem
         to be away on holiday – it’s that sort of place, weekenders and well-off families. And I tell you what, some of these women
         who sit at home all day planning lunch parties – it feels like all they want to do is gossip about their neighbours. You wouldn’t
         believe some of the things they’ve come up with.’
      

      
      ‘I think I know what you’re going to say, but carry on, I like a good goss.’

      
      ‘Well …’ Jane riffled through the pages, handwritten at this stage. ‘Mrs Newbury at Willow Cottage, she seems to think Polly
         was having an affair with Nigel Maitland. Apparently he’s the reason she came here to work.’
      

      
      Lou raised her eyebrows.

      
      ‘Marjorie Baker from Esperance Villa – honestly, I’m not making it up – seems to think it was Brian Fletcher-Norman that Polly
         was seeing. Saw Brian coming out of Yonder Cottage once late at night when she went round there to deliver a Christian Aid
         leaflet or something.’
      

      
      Just as Hamilton had said: Polly Leuchars and the man from the Barn across the road. But Nigel Maitland as well?

      
      ‘Have we got anything we can actually use?’

      
      ‘The next house along, towards the pub, is Rowe House. Occupant’s a Mr Wright, a weekender from London. He’s staying for the
         week with his two children because of it being half term. Says he was woken up at two-fifteen by the noise of a car driving
         along the lane at speed. Didn’t look out of his window, went back to sleep.’
      

      
      ‘OK. Let’s get a proper statement from him. Remind me, where does that lane end up if you follow it in that direction?’

      
      ‘Takes you to the crossroads, then straight over would be towards Briarstone. The other way would be out towards Baysbury.’

      
      ‘Any ANPR cameras on that road?’

      
      ‘Afraid not.’

      
      ‘Too much to hope for, I guess.’

      
      
      ‘It’s really quiet, that area. I’ve been looking at the crime data – hardly anything goes on down there. Most of the traffic
         seems to be related to the farm.’
      

      
      ‘I need to get a nice map,’ Lou said absently, wondering whether the analyst had gone home already.

      
      21:04

      
      Drifting in and out of consciousness was at times a delicious and a devastating thing, Brian thought. You saw faces, not knowing
         if they were real or imagined, a thought came and then it was gone, voices came and went …
      

      
      ‘Have we located any next of kin?’

      
      ‘Police found a daughter, we are waiting for more from them.’

      
      Music … light and dark … pain …

      
      Taryn. Where was Taryn? Suzanne … Polly …?

      
      And darkness.

      
      21:05

      
      Andy Hamilton pulled out of the hospital car park and headed through the rain towards home, wondering if there was any chance
         Karen would have cooked something for him, or if he should stop and get a kebab. He could have phoned her, of course, but
         that would risk waking Leah who might, with a bit of luck, have gone off to sleep. He’d sent a text an hour ago letting Karen
         know that he was going to be a bit late. No reply had been forthcoming.
      

      
      In the end his car seemed to pull in of its own accord to the parade of shops where the Atilla Kebab House and Pizzeria’s
         bright lights beckoned, and a few minutes later he was back in the car, a steaming polystyrene carton warming his thighs.
         He picked at bits of grilled chicken, wiping them in the chilli sauce that dribbled out of the edges of the pitta, thinking
         about Detective Chief Inspector Louisa Smith.
      

      
      It wasn’t the first time he’d seen her since it happened, but it was the first time they’d worked together. Was it awkward?
         Not for him. She was looking even better these days, or was it because she had that new, brisk air of authority about her that made her even more of an exciting challenge?
      

      
      I’d go there again, he thought.

      
      Outside the off-licence a little crowd of the usual halfwits had gathered and he kept a contemplative eye on them while he
         crammed the pitta in. They were here all the time. Patrols got bored with coming out here night after night, sending them
         on their way, getting all the verbal abuse that went with it, only to be called out again by the shopkeeper an hour later
         because they were back, throwing stones and beer cans around and shouting obscenities. It was putting off her regular customers,
         Mrs Kumar complained. It was bad for business.
      

      
      Neighbourhood were supposed to be putting together a dispersal zone. In the meantime, the local arseholes sat on Mrs Kumar’s
         storage unit, spat great gobs of phlegm at the pavement and shouted incomprehensible twaddle at each other and at passers-by.
      

      
      If they did something really bad, he’d have to get out of the car, kebab or no kebab.

      
      He watched one of them, a skinny lad with a shaved head, wearing a vest – a vest for crying out loud, it was November – push one of the girls on the shoulder, hard enough to knock her off her perch on the
         metal barrier. She kept to her feet but immediately turned to square up to him, her fist brought back behind her ear.
      

      
      ‘Oh, no,’ Andy groaned, ‘don’t be a muppet.’

      
      The skinhead in the vest, one of the Petrie family, judging by the extensive monobrow and weaselly chin, was laughing at the
         girl, pointing. Her mate, squeezed into too-tight white jeans with some appropriate word sequinned across the arse, shouted
         back at him, wobbled her head and waved her hands, ghetto-style; and for some reason that seemed to be more of a legitimate
         challenge because the halfwit backed off then, hands up in mock surrender.
      

      
      Two minutes later the skinhead was snogging the face off the girl who’d nearly punched him and Andy had finished his kebab.

      
      
      21:53

      
      There was no one in the Intel unit. The Late Turn officers were all out on a job and Lou went back to her desk and sent an
         email to the Source Handling Unit to try and hurry up the latest on Nigel Maitland, copying her email in to Ali Whitmore.
      

      
      It would be a bonus, Lou thought, if she could be the one to nail Maitland, the smarmy bastard. She had met him once, and
         charming and handsome as he was – hair greying at the temples, light blue eyes with plenty going on behind them, a warm smile
         – she’d been wary of him. And it might have been a whopping great coincidence that this young woman, who may or may not have
         been having sex with her employer and ‘family friend’ who was not quite twice her age, ended up with her skull smashed to
         pieces on Nigel Maitland’s property: or it might just be the mistake that would finally see him brought down.
      

      
      The MIR was still active, but there weren’t many people left. Jane Phelps and Les Finnegan were writing up statements, cross-checking
         details.
      

      
      Behind some screens and a long table which supported fax machine, scanner, colour printer and black and white printer, Jason
         Mercer was still hard at work. There was something about him that was making her feel … odd. Yet he wasn’t especially good-looking,
         although he was tall and probably had a good body underneath his meticulously ironed shirt. He held himself with an easy confidence,
         as though he was here for fun, yet at the same time he was clearly very focused on what he was doing. And he had agreed to
         work on her team even when he obviously hadn’t wanted to.
      

      
      ‘Hello,’ said Lou, smiling as he started. ‘Sorry – didn’t mean to make you jump.’

      
      He leaned back in his chair and stretched his arms above his head. ‘I hadn’t noticed it getting dark.’ He checked his watch.
         ‘My God!’
      

      
      ‘What time did you get to work this morning?’ Lou found herself perched on the edge of the desk opposite, tugging at her skirt.

      
      ‘Half past seven. Oh, well.’ He gave her a smile. ‘I daresay your day has been at least as long and twice as stressful. Are
         you going home?’
      

      
      Lou nodded. ‘The mortuary first to see if there’s any update or if they need anything from us. After that, home. I need sleep, otherwise I won’t be able to function at all tomorrow. How are
         you getting on?’
      

      
      ‘Fine so far,’ Jason said. ‘Do you want me to brief you now, or can you wait for the morning?’

      
      ‘Tomorrow will be fine. I will have to find some way to contain my excitement until then. By the way, what happened to your
         eye?’
      

      
      It must have been a corker when it was still swollen but now it was a purplish smudge under his right eye with a tiny cut
         on the bridge of his nose. She’d been dying to ask ever since she’d first laid eyes on him at the briefing.
      

      
      ‘I play hockey,’ he said. And then added, as he must have had to do every single time someone asked, which was probably several
         times a day: ‘Ice hockey.’
      

      
      ‘Ah,’ Lou replied, as if that explained everything.

      
      ‘Did you find out about the phones?’ he asked.

      
      Shit. ‘Sorry. I saw Jane briefly but we were talking about the house-to-house. Have you checked the comms folder on the computer?’

      
      ‘Still empty.’

      
      ‘I’ll give her a call, hold on.’ Lou headed back to her office to grab the mobile but he called her back.

      
      ‘Don’t worry, it can wait till morning. I don’t especially want to start on it at this time of night, anyway.’

      
      He stood up and stretched, pulling his jacket off the back of his chair.

      
      22:12

      
      The reception desk at Briarstone General Hospital was empty, the flower kiosk shut, the only activity around the vending machines;
         but Lou knew where she was going. The public mortuary.
      

      
      She rang the bell on the door that was tucked away, its only identification the simple word ‘Mortuary’. After an age, an assistant
         appeared. She recognised Lou but still checked her warrant card before letting her in.
      

      
      ‘Dr Francis has just finished. You’re lucky to catch her.’

      
      Adele Francis was in the staff room, changing out of her scrubs and wellies into a smart skirt and high heels.

      
      
      ‘Hi, Adele,’ Lou said. ‘Sorry, I don’t want to keep you. I know it’s been a long day. I wanted to check if you’ve got everything
         you need.’
      

      
      Adele did look tired, but she managed a smile. ‘Yes, thanks. You can walk me to the car park if you like and we can talk on
         the way. I’ve got a date with a bottle of wine and I’m late already.’
      

      
      They went out of a door marked ‘Fire Exit Only’, which was a short cut out to the fresh air.

      
      ‘Not bad going, two bodies already. How’s your first MIR?’

      
      ‘OK so far, I think. And the second body isn’t officially mine yet.’

      
      ‘Well, I’m not convinced the two are linked by anything more than location. You’re going to have to wait for the blood results
         to confirm it.’
      

      
      ‘Anything you can tell me that might help? I’ve got the press conference tomorrow morning.’

      
      ‘Polly Leuchars died of head injuries, multiple trauma with a blunt instrument, plenty of force needed, very aggressive. Someone
         had had a go at strangling her first. Bruises around the neck, possibly enough to render her unconscious. She was still alive
         when the head injuries occurred.’
      

      
      ‘Time of death?’

      
      ‘I’d say between midnight and two, no later. There was some evidence of older injuries which may be worth considering in your
         investigation.’
      

      
      Lou stopped. ‘Older injuries?’

      
      ‘Healing bruises, mainly. Some around the wrists, barely visible unless you’ve got the best sort of light.’

      
      ‘So she’d been restrained?’

      
      ‘Possibly. Not recently but within the last week or two. She was a horsewoman, wasn’t she?’

      
      ‘She worked as a groom, yes.’

      
      Adele considered this. ‘I saw similar bruises around the wrists and lower arms of a child, once. She’d been thrown at a gymkhana.
         Had wound the reins around her wrists. So don’t go jumping to any premature conclusions, Chief Inspector.’
      

      
      ‘I’ll try not to,’ Lou said, then added: ‘What about Mrs Fletcher-Norman?’

      
      
      ‘Yes, that one was interesting. I only got her late this afternoon. Do you happen to know if she was wearing her seatbelt
         when she was found?’
      

      
      ‘I’ll ask. We’re waiting on the CSI photographs.’

      
      ‘I did phone earlier; someone was going to call me back. Never mind. I’ll do the PM tomorrow and let you have the report as
         soon as I can.’
      

      
      ‘Thank you.’

      
      They had stopped beside a silver BMW, parked in a designated bay in the staff car park, the one reserved for consultants and
         senior management.
      

      
      ‘Enjoy your wine – I think I might pick some up myself.’

      
      Lou paused at the main entrance, then on a whim walked all the way back to the Intensive Care Unit. She showed her warrant
         card, said she was here to check on Mr Fletcher-Norman’s progress. She waited for twenty minutes while they found someone
         who was prepared to commit to an update, even a vague one.
      

      
      Still unconscious. Nothing further.

      
      That’s it, she thought. I’m going home.

      
      23:14

      
      After work, Taryn had phoned the hospital to check if her father was still alive. They’d suggested she should come in, that
         he was still in a critical state but might respond to her voice. Fat chance of that, she thought, but after speaking to her
         husband, Chris, she had gone in anyway.
      

      
      She was surprised at how old he looked without his glasses on, his eyes closed and tubes and monitors everywhere. He was wearing
         one of those hospital gowns and his skin was pink, the hair on his head was white and tufty, not neatly groomed. He looked
         frail and vulnerable, not like him at all. From this position she could see there were marks like yellowing bruises on the
         top of his right arm. Maybe he got them when they were trying to keep his heart going – wasn’t it supposed to be really brutal?
         Or maybe Barbara had been beating him up; Taryn wouldn’t have put it past her.
      

      
      The last time she’d seen him had been at the Barn. He had been complaining about the bike she’d bought him last Christmas. It wasn’t right for his needs, apparently, even though it had
         been the one he had chosen from some enthusiast’s magazine, and she had gone round to look at it.
      

      
      Barbara had opened the door to her.

      
      ‘Oh. It’s you. Well, you’d better come in.’

      
      Her father was in his armchair reading the Telegraph, Paisley-patterned feet up on the footstool.
      

      
      ‘Good heavens,’ he’d said, peering at her. ‘What the hell is that thing you’re wearing?’

      
      ‘It’s a poncho, Dad. I’ve come about the bike.’

      
      ‘It makes your legs look enormous,’ he said. ‘You’d be better off with a long coat.’

      
      She’d taken a deep breath in, and repeated slowly: ‘I’ve come about the bike.’

      
      ‘It’s outside, next to the garage,’ he said. ‘You’ll have to take it back.’

      
      ‘What’s the matter with it?’

      
      ‘Gears keep slipping,’ he said, from behind the newspaper.

      
      ‘What? What do you mean?’

      
      He lowered the newspaper slowly and looked at her over the tops of his reading glasses. ‘It’s a road bike, Taryn.’

      
      She remembered the feeling bubbling up inside her, the frustration and the misery of being spoken to like that. How long would
         she have to put up with it? ‘I know what it is. It’s the one you asked for. The one you picked out of the magazine!’
      

      
      ‘I don’t want a road bike, I don’t enjoy cycling on the roads; if I wanted to cycle on the roads I would have asked for a
         road bike, wouldn’t I? I can’t ride that thing through the countryside. It’s not suitable. It’s not appropriate.’
      

      
      His voice rose over the course of the outburst until he was on the verge of shouting, his face flushed to a deep crimson.

      
      She stared at him for a moment, counting to ten. Then fifteen. Then she looked away, defeated. ‘All right. I’ll see if I can
         trade it in for a different one.’
      

      
      
      Her father shook the creases out of the newspaper. The matter was closed, resolved to his satisfaction, for the time being
         at least. He always won. If he didn’t win, he would carry on and on until he could claim the victory in another way.
      

      
      She’d gone out to the garage and looked at the bike, leaning miserably against the wall with the front wheel turned out at
         an odd angle, as though it had been casually tossed aside and had slumped down under the weight of its own inadequacies.
      

      
      It had started to rain by then and she was wondering whether she could fit the bike in if she put the seats down in the car,
         when Barbara came to the back door with a bag full of bottles for the recycling bin.
      

      
      ‘I’ll see you, then,’ Taryn had said, with an attempt at a cheerful wave.

      
      ‘What? You’re not coming back, are you?’

      
      ‘No. I just meant – never mind.’

      
      Head down against the rain, she’d gone round to the front as the back door slammed shut. She spent a good twenty minutes trying
         to fit the bike into the car, scraping the skin on her ankle with a pedal, getting grease on her hands and her new wool poncho
         and the fabric of the back seat, blinded by tears and hating herself for bothering with them; the pair of them, they were
         as bad as each other. Hateful people!
      

      
      The next day she had taken the bike back to the shop where she’d bought it, at considerable expense since it wasn’t the cheapest.
         And despite his protests that it didn’t meet his needs, he had chosen this one specifically, which made it all the more frustrating.
      

      
      ‘He says the gears keep slipping,’ she’d said.

      
      They took the bike back to examine it and then phoned Taryn at work to tell her the good news. The gears were fine.

      
      When she went back to the shop she asked if there was any way she could exchange it for a mountain bike. The manager showed
         her round the mountain bike selection and told her he would give her a trade-in value for the road bike. Less than half what
         she’d paid, and the mountain bikes were much more expensive.
      

      
      She had wheeled the bike out of the shop and spent another twenty minutes fighting to get it back into her car. Subsequently she chose a Friday lunchtime, when she could be reasonably certain
         that Barbara would be playing tennis and her father would be at his office, and dumped the bike round the back of the barn.
         Then put a note through the letterbox, explaining that she couldn’t exchange it, she had tried, and if he wanted to buy himself
         a mountain bike that was up to him. She had signed it with a ‘T’, no niceties. And that had been it.
      

      
      But she’d been working up to seeing him again, working up to contacting him, knowing that the immovable boundary of Christmas
         was approaching and that someone would have to break the silence and say something about letting bygones be bygones, blood
         being thicker than water, the wrong time of year to be holding grudges, all of that old nonsense that would still be directed
         at her as though she were the guilty party.
      

      
      And now Barbara was dead, and her father was breathing through a machine. She tried to feel sorry. She even tried to feel
         happy, but that didn’t work either. She couldn’t seem to feel anything apart from tired.
      

      
      What she had wanted to hear was that he was dead. It was bad of her, very bad, to wish something like that, but it didn’t
         stop her wishing. And if he was going to die, she wanted it to happen soon so she wouldn’t have to keep going back, day after
         day. She wanted it to be over with.
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